








Uncovered

From the files of the British Admiralty: a report of the events of May 9, 1830, by James Stockdale, Captain of the barque Rob Roy





Light winds and fine clean weather…. Wind SSE with a light swell. Saw several large whales—some of them very light coloured. About five p.m. all at once while I was walking on the deck my attention was drawn to the water on the port bow by a scuffling noise. Judge my amazement when what should stare us all in the face as if not knowing whether to come over the deck or go around to the stern—but the great thundering big sea snake!

Now I had heard of the fellow before—and have killed snakes twenty-four feet long in the straits of Malaca, but they would go in his mouth….

My ship is 171 feet long overall—and the foremast is 42 feet from the stern, which would make the monster about 129 feet long. If I had not seen it I could not have believed it but there was no mistake or doubt of its length—for the brute was so close I could smell him.

When underway he carried his head about six feet out of water—with a fin between the shoulders about two feet long. I think he was swimming about five miles an hour—for I watched him from the topsail yard till I lost sight of him in about fifty minutes. The thickened part of his body seemed to be as large round as a beef [illegible]. I hope never to see him more. It is enough to frighten the strong at heart.
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For Dana: my wife, soul mate and best friend. You make every day a special one.
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Introduction



For almost ten years FBI special agents Fox Mulder and Dana Scully pursued UFOs, vampires, lake monsters, werewolves, ghosts, aliens, dark and sinister conspiracies, biblical mysteries, man-made flying saucers, and more. Their paranormal and paranoia-filled show, The X-Files, spawned the unforgettable catchphrases The truth is out there and Trust no one.

Of course, The X-Files was merely a work of fiction, and the idea that government, military, and intelligence agencies around the globe would take an interest in such out-of-this-world controversies is manifestly absurd. Isn’t it? Perhaps not.

In the pages that follow, you will learn the remarkable facts pertaining to what could arguably be termed the real-life X-files of the American, British, and former Soviet governments. Come with us on a remarkable journey into the unknown as we reveal the FBI’s records on the men who claimed face-to-face contact with alien creatures; the attempts by the U.S. Air Force to build nuclear-powered flying saucers; the true story concerning Britain’s military and the Loch Ness Monster; the KGB’s and the Central Intelligence Agency’s plans to perfect the ultimate psychic spy; the real-life Men in Black who terrorize UFO witnesses into silence; the American military’s use of vampire legends, witchcraft, sorcery, and black magic; the crop-circle secrets of the British government; FBI documents on a series of macabre and baffling cattle mutilations; official U.S. government files on spontaneous human combustion; naval reports of gargantuan sea monsters; the stranger-than-fiction world of animal espionage; telepathic experiments conducted by the CIA; unexplained phenomena reported during the Second World War; the CIA’s files on Noah’s Ark; and much more.

It should be noted that the nature of intelligence work requires agencies to obtain information on just about anything and everything that might conceivably have a bearing on national security. Therefore, it is really not at all surprising that documentation on “the unknown” has been created and studied at an official level.

But for years, the official files on these and other mysteries were tightly held under the strictest security. With the passing of legislation such as the U.S. government’s Freedom of Information Act and the British government’s Thirty Year Ruling, however, that security has, to a degree at least, begun to ease—to the extent that we can now safely say that “the truth is” indeed “out there.”

And yes, you can trust us!









Part One

High Strangeness
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Few people will be unaware of the crop-circle mystery of the 1980s and the 1990s. U.S. government files on this subject extend back decades, however, as this Air Force Office of Special Investigations document of 1952, titled “Summary of Circumstances: Investigation of Possible Unidentified Flying Object—Arlington, Virginia,” reveals.









One

Around in Circles




Exactly who, or what, is responsible for peppering Britain’s landscape with the now familiar crop circles and the fantastically elaborate “pictogram” designs has been hotly debated for years. Indeed, worldwide interest in the subject is so intense that it even became a key aspect of the summer 2002 blockbuster movie starring Mel Gibson, Signs.

Official interest in these mysterious “circles” began early on. According to the Wall Street Journal of August 28, 1989, “British agriculture and defense officials want to know more about the mysterious crop circles which have appeared across the countryside…so does Queen Elizabeth, who is said to have sharply questioned Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher about the circles recently. While those talks are kept secret, a Buckingham Palace spokesman says the Queen took a hurriedly published book about the circles to her summer palace in Scotland this month.”1

Numerous theories have been advanced to try to explain the phenomenal number of designs that have appeared throughout the country (and now, the world) since the 1980s, but opinions remain sharply divided. For the “believers,” crop circles are the work of UFOs, some form of vaguely defined “earth energy,” or some other inexplicable phenomenon. For many, however, the human factor is overriding. Indeed, good evidence shows that many of the pictograms are the work of human beings.

In the latter part of 2000, for instance, a Welshman named Matthew Williams hit the headlines when he was arrested for causing criminal damage in a field in Wiltshire, England. Williams had created under cover of darkness a highly elaborate pictogram of the type that many crop-circle researchers believed—and continue to believe—could only be made by a currently unexplained medium. Little wonder, then, that the matter remains unresolved to everyone’s satisfaction.

But what of the possibility that the circles—whatever their origin—have attracted the attention of officialdom, as the Wall Street Journal suggested was the case in 1989? One man who claims to have such knowledge is crop-circle researcher George Wingfield. Eton-educated and previously employed at the Royal Greenwich Observatory, Wingfield claims that in September 1990 the British government called a secret ministerial briefing to debate the circles. According to Wingfield’s sources, the meeting was supposedly convened to try to determine the nature of the circles, lest the British government be placed in the potentially embarrassing position of having to admit its ignorance of the phenomenon.2

A similar but more personal experience comes from a Royal Air Force medic, Jonathan Turner, who was stationed at RAF Lyneham, Wiltshire, in 1991. He recalls that on July 15 of that year, a crop circle was discovered on nearby Hackpen Hill. Shortly afterward, examples of the more elaborate pictograms began appearing too. His interest piqued, Turner visited the area on an off-duty day and took some photographs of the various patterns and formations that had appeared. As he soon learned, however, Turner was not alone.

Parked near a run-down farm building was a car: a Royal Air Force Police car. Turner subsequently had a brief conversation with the police officer and questioned him about his presence. This provoked a cryptic response from the RAF policeman, who admitted that he was “monitoring the activity on the downs regarding the crop circles.”3

And the stories continue of official interest, in one form or another. The film director John McNeish claims that he received an order from Buckingham Palace for a copy of his book Crop Circle Apocalypse.4

But to what extent can such tales of official interest in crop circles be validated? Do governmental, military, and intelligence files exist on this topic? The answer is yes—at least, to an extent.

The earliest documented example of official interest in unusual crop formations dates not, as might be expected, from the 1980s or 1990s, but from the 1940s and the battle-scarred landscape of wartime Britain. This example implicates one of Britain’s most secretive intelligence agencies, MI5, in the mystery.

In March 1909, the British government instructed its Committee of Imperial Defense to consider the dangers posed to British naval ports by German espionage agents. On October 1 of that year, Captain Vernon Kell of the South Staffordshire Regiment and Captain Mansfield Cumming of the Royal Navy jointly established the Secret Service Bureau. To fulfill the Admiralty’s requirement for information about Germany’s new navy, Kell and Cumming divided their work; Kell became responsible for counterespionage within the British Isles, while Cumming coordinated the collection and analysis of overseas intelligence data.

Between March 1909 and the outbreak of the First World War, more than thirty spies were identified and arrested by the Secret Service Bureau. At the time the bureau had a staff of only ten, but it was rapidly mobilized as a branch of the War Office and in January 1916 became part of the new Directorate of Military Intelligence and was known thereafter as MI5.

In early 1941, Sir David Petrie was appointed the first director general of the Security Service and was given substantial resources to rebuild the organization. As a result MI5 became one of the most efficient agencies of the war. After the defeat of the Nazis in 1945, it was learned that all of the Nazi agents targeted against Britain had been identified, and in some cases recruited as double agents, by MI5—something that contributed to the success of the Allied landing in Normandy on D day on June 6, 1944. But what, you may ask, does this have to do with the crop-circle mystery?

In 2001 a number of files pertaining to the wartime activities of MI5 were declassified and made available for inspection at the Public Record Office, Kew. One dealt with MI5 investigations of “markings on the ground,” “suspicious pieces of paper and messages,” “marked maps,” and “markings on telegraph poles.” According to the report:

The early days of 1940 and 1941 produced an avalanche of reports about the spys [sic] and fifth columnists who many people thought were roaming the land unhindered. Each village boasted of “enemy agents” in their midst, and it is only by recapturing the atmosphere of those days that one can see the matter in its proper perspective. Everyone had heard of the activities of fifth columnists on the continent and of the alarmingly successful part they had played in the overthrow of France and Belgium. It was therefore natural with everyone tense for the threatened invasion that so many reports came in. Each had to be investigated, even if only to put the minds of the public and the services at rest.


The report outlines the nature of its content:

This account is not concerned with the activities of fifth columnists such as sabotage, capturing airfields and key points, and harassing the defending army, but in the methods used in communicating to each other and to the enemy. Reports from Poland, Holland, France and Belgium showed that they used ground markings for the guidance of bombers and paratroops (and of lights by night). Such ground markings might be the cutting of cornfields into guiding marks for aircraft, painting of roofs and the inside of chimneys white, setting haystacks on fire, and laying out strips of white linen in pre-arranged patterns. For guiding and giving information to advancing troops they would conceal messages behind advertisement hoardings and leave markings on walls and telegraph poles.


For the most part, the unusual markings on telegraph poles, roofs, and chimneys were dismissed as having perfectly innocent explanations and indicates how rumor and misperception can run wildly out of control at times of hostility and high stress. But what of the “ground markings” in cornfields?

From interviews conducted with personnel who had taken part in the hostilities in Poland, MI5 had determined that one of the ways that Nazi spies were communicating with German Luftwaffe pilots was by “beating out signs,” twenty meters in diameter, “on harrowed fields or mowing such signs on meadows or cornfields.” Crop circles, in other words!

In a section of the report titled “Examples of Ground Markings Investigated,” a still-anonymous MI5 employee wrote:


1. Field at Little Mill, Monmouthshire.

In May 1941 a report was made that an unusual mark was visible amongst the growing corn. Near one of the gates was a mark in the form of the letter “G,” some 33 yards long. This mark had been made by sowing barley transversely through the grain. Air photographs were taken and it was seen that the tail of the marking pointed towards the Ordnance factory at Glascoed. The farmer, a man of good character, was interviewed, and admitted that he had sown the field himself. He explained that he had sold the field in April. Shortly after, having a drilling machine nearby which had a small quantity of barley seed in it, and wishing to empty it as he had to return it to the farmer from whom he had borrowed it that night, he turned his team of horses into the grain field and drilled it into the ground thickly to get rid of it. He did this because it is extremely difficult to remove the grain in the machine by hand, and to sow it was the quickest way of getting rid of it. He agreed to plough up this part of the field. As a satisfactory explanation had been reached, the case was carried no further.

2. Field, north of Newquay, Cornwall.

Aircraft noticed, in May 1940, strange marking in this field and it was photographed. Enquiries were made and it was found that the lines were formed by heaps of lime used for agricultural purposes. The farmer concerned was above reproach and removed the lime heaps.

3. Field, near Staplehurst, Kent.

In October 1943, aircraft saw a faint white circle on the ground with the word MARDEN inscribed in it. Enquiries were made, and it was discovered that before the war the field was used as an emergency landing ground by Imperial Airways; the mark was made by them, and they paid a small yearly rent to the farmer. At the beginning of the war the mark was obliterated in some way, but this had worn thin. Steps were taken to obliterate it again.5



So these examples of unusual wartime formations found in cornfields were determined not be related to the activities of the Nazis and instead had wholly down-to-earth explanations. But this intriguing aspect of MI5’s wartime activities is notable for one key reason: it demonstrates that official bodies within Britain have investigated unusual crop formations to determine if they are in any way representative of a threat to the British Isles.

In the postwar period, the next example we have of official involvement in crop-circle-like phenomena dates from early 1964. On March 23 of that year, the Reverend T. E. T. Burbury of Clifton Rectory, Penrith, England, wrote to the National Physical Laboratory at Teddington, which in turn forwarded his letter to the British Air Ministry via the Meteorological Office at Bracknell, about a crop-circle-forming blue light he had seen.


Does an apparent column of blue light about eight feet in diameter and about fifteen feet high which disperses and leaves a mark of very slightly disturbed earth, the same diameter, mean anything to you?

I examined the ground which is about one hundred yards from the nearest building and there are no pylons near. There was no sign of burning, either by sight or smell; the grass growing between the exposed ground appeared quite normal. There were no signs of bird tracks or droppings; the ground simply appeared to have been lightly raked over in almost perfect circle.



In this case, the Air Ministry seemed less than impressed with the report and suggested in an internal memorandum that the encounter probably had more to do with the condition of the liver of the witness than it did with anything else.6

The key witness in this 1964 encounter was eventually tracked down by the crop-circle investigator Paul Fuller. Robert Ellis informed Fuller that at approximately 9:30 P.M. on the night in question the family’s dog began to howl in the vicinity of an outbuilding where it slept at night. Thinking that some stock might have broken loose, Ellis went to check and noticed that the tops of two nearby apple trees were lit up by a blue light. He told Fuller:

“Approximately one hundred yards from where I stood was a vivid ‘electric blue’ light. Its shape was elliptical. It stayed in a horizontal position, remaining motionless and making no audible sound. I could see no detail within the light; in fact I had to shade my eyes with my hand, the light was so intense. I was quite frightened—being alone—and quickly went indoors. By that time I had calmed down and opened the curtains and shutters of the front window to look out again in that direction, all was in darkness.”

According to Ellis, an inspection of the area the following morning revealed a circular depression as described by Burbury. “In some places the disturbance was two inches deep as if the area had been vigorously raked. The roots of the grass were damaged and the circle remained visible well into May of that year.”7

The lack of official interest in this 1964 case is in direct contrast to the concern shown over the wartime 1940s cases. Would MI5 be interested in the crop-circle phenomenon since the 1980s? We don’t know. But we have found one aspect of the current phenomenon very interesting.

Most of the crop circles in the British Isles have been found in the county of Wiltshire, which is also home to Porton Down, the British government’s Chemical and Biological Defense Establishment; Salisbury Plain, an area used for military training purposes; Boscombe Down, from where new and experimental aircraft are flown; and RAF Rudloe Manor, a secretive military establishment that until 1998 was home to an elite body of the Royal Air Force known as the Provost and Security Services.

Could the crop circles be coded messages left for terrorist or subversive groups intent on disrupting activities at Porton Down, Boscombe Down, Rudloe Manor, and Salisbury Plain? Or could the phenomenon be produced by the British military itself?

 

Let us now turn our attention to the United States. A report titled “Summary of Circumstances: Investigation of Possible Unidentified Flying Object—Arlington, Virginia, 1–2 September 1952” was found at the National Archives, Maryland, in the now declassified UFO-related investigative files of the U.S. Air Force’s Office of Special Investigations. It is of interest and relevance because it deals with the discovery and investigation of an “an unusual circle.”

 

1. At 1600 hours on 3 Sep 52, the Directorate of Intelligence, HQ USAF received a telephone call from Mr. Storm, SE, Washington, that an unusual circle was found marked on the lawn of his father, Mr. Storm, on the morning of 2 Sep 52 and that he believed it might bear some relation to the USAF investigation of unidentified flying objects.

2. Major Fournet, of the D/I, called on the elder Mr. Storm at his residence, Arlington, Va., during the evening of 3 Sep 52.

3. The following was found on Mr. Storm’s rear lawn:

a. A circle 18 feet in diameter and nearly perfectly formed was marked on the lawn by a deposit of some unknown gray substance which was adhering to the grass in clusters of fine globules.

b. The band of the circle (around the periphery) was an average of approximately 6 inches wide.

c. The deposits in the band were less pronounced and sometimes absent for short distances where depressions or unevenness in the ground surface occurred.

d. A small evergreen bush was located at a point about 40 inches inside the circle and did not appear to have been disturbed in any way nor were any deposits present on or around it.

e. A clothes line frame located on a central pole overhung the circle somewhat and had been in place on the night in question.

f. An antenna wire about 40 feet above the ground overhung the circle, exact amount undetermined.

g. No other vegetation in the area contained any deposits or marks (small trees were present, as close as 6 or 8 feet from the circle).

h. Three types of fertilizer were stored in covered drums near the garage about 15 feet away from the circle.

4. Mr. and Mrs. Storm were interviewed and offered the following information:

a. Mr. Storm cut the grass in the area in question around 1800–1900 hours on 1 Sep 52. The clippings were left where they fell.

b. At 2300 hours on 1 Sep 52, Mr. Storm put his dog in the basement for the night. (Note: the dog barks at anyone who comes into the yard, and, until that time, had not sounded off.)

c. (As related to Mr. Storm later by Mrs. [deleted] a neighbor immediately in the rear of the Storm residence and adjacent to the lawn in question.) Mrs. [deleted] was awakened at about 0400 hours on 2 Sep 52 by barking of dog “which seemed to be in distress.” She looked out of a window in the rear of her house but failed to see anything (it was a rather dark night).

d. Upon going out to his car at 0730 hours 2 Sep 52, Mr. Storm noticed the circle and walked over to examine it. He describes it as having at that time a brown, oily-sandy appearance with what seemed to be a very fine granular structure (as though a fine sand mixed with light oil had been spread to form the ring). He rubbed some of the substance between his fingers and found it faintly gritty and definitely oily. Mrs. Storm corroborates this description.

e. During mid-afternoon of 2 Sep 52 Mrs. Storm reexamined the ring and found that the color had changed to grayish blue, and it no longer appeared to be oily. However it still felt oily but no longer felt gritty. She detected no odor upon smelling it.

f. Upon returning from work at 1700 hours 2 Sep 52, Mr. Storm again examined it with his wife. He describes the color as purplish-gray; Mrs. Storm describes the color as bluish gray. Both agree that the substance had begun to form small, closely-packed globules on the blades of grass and that it had begun to “crystallize.” Mr. Storm states that it then felt slick (like graphite) when rubbed between the fingers; Mrs. Storm describes it as a powdery feel. (NOTE: There has been no rain since before the evening of 1 Sep 52, and there was a hot sun all day on 2 Sep 52. However, there was a heavy rainfall during the night of 2/3 Sep 52.)

g. During the morning of 3 Sep 52, Mr. Storm reexamined it and “was surprised to find it there after so much rain.” He describes its appearance as darker (a slate gray) and still formed in globules on the grass blades. It still felt about like graphite. Perhaps a bit “thinner” than the preceding evening.

5. Mr. and Mrs. [deleted] were not at home and, therefore, were not interviewed.

6. Samples of grass, leaves and soil, and of three types of fertilizer stored nearby were removed for analysis.

7. Mr. and Mrs. Storm were very cooperative and appeared to be completely sincere. They stated that they have not recently evinced much interest in the subject of unidentified flying objects nor had they discussed the subject with anyone, thereby eliminating any obvious motive for a practical joke.

 

The Air Force recommended that the relevant samples be forwarded to the FBI laboratory for analysis. While this was done, followed by some discussion of the possibility of contamination from fertilizers, the case was left frustratingly unresolved.

Forty years later, official interest in such phenomena continues on the part of U.S. intelligence. Files released by the ultrasecret National Security Agency, for example, detail accounts of crop circles appearing in fields in northern Germany in the 1990s and claims that they were made by human beings. Additional papers from the same time frame declassified by the NSA refer to “mysterious, small circles” that had appeared on the walls of tunnels in Japan’s underground railway system that were believed to be caused by a plasma emanating from high-voltage railway power lines.

These records clearly demonstrate that crop circles and crop-circle-like phenomena have been investigated at an official level on both sides of the Atlantic from the early 1940s to the mid-1990s. To what extent similar investigations may have continued since then, however, still has many researchers of the puzzle going, quite literally, around in circles.









Two

The Ararat Anomaly




History was made on June 17, 1949. That’s when a U.S. Air Force Europe (USAFE) plane taking part in a classified mission that included aerial imaging of the 16,945-foot-high Mt. Ararat, Turkey, inadvertently stumbled across what may have been the remains of the mighty Ark of Noah described in the Bible. As the aircraft reached a height of around fifteen thousand feet and a distance of approximately one mile from the frozen mountain, its cameras captured two extraordinary images of a large structure—perhaps five hundred feet in length—that protruded from an ice cap located at the southwest edge of Ararat’s west-facing plateau.

The crew quickly swung the aircraft around and headed to the north of the mountain and continued to take photographs. Astonishingly, these revealed (from a distance of two miles) the existence of yet another large, unidentified structure on the western plateau and three symmetrical, but badly damaged, protrusions that pointed skyward out of what looked like a wing-style section of the structure. Needless to say the photographs were carefully and quietly processed and duly classified. And thus was born the legend of the Ararat Anomaly—as it is unofficially known throughout the U.S. intelligence community in general and the CIA in particular.

[image: page28]

The CIA has declassified a number of files relating to the so-called Ararat Anomaly—an unusual feature on Mt. Ararat, Turkey, that some believe may be the remains of Noah’s Ark. This CIA document dates from 1982 and reveals some of the CIA’s findings on the Anomaly.

Any mention of the Central Intelligence Agency inevitably conjures up images of sinister-looking characters conducting covert espionage operations, political assassinations, and James Bond–like escapades. The truth is often different. Granted, the CIA’s history has at times been both dark and controversial. But for the most part, CIA employees do not run around the world with gorgeous girls on their arms while ordering their drinks “shaken and not stirred” and simultaneously saving the planet from some deranged madman in 007-style. In reality, the CIA makes use of numerous personnel in a wide and varied body of disciplines. Scientists, engineers, economists, linguists, mathematicians, secretaries, accountants, and computer specialists are but a few of the professionals that the CIA employs.

The CIA was established on July 26, 1947, by President Harry Truman as a result of the passing of the U.S. government’s National Security Act. It had its origins in the wartime Office of Strategic Services and the Central Intelligence Group (which had been created in January 1946 under the directorship of Admiral Sidney Souers). With its primary mission to collect, evaluate, and disseminate foreign intelligence data, the CIA assists the president and senior U.S. government policymakers in making decisions relating to national security. The CIA does not make policy, however. It is an independent source of foreign intelligence for those who do.

A common misconception is that the CIA’s budget is unlimited. While exempt from disclosure to the public and the media alike, the specific budget and the size of the CIA are known in detail and scrutinized by the Office of Management and Budget and by the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence, and the Defense Subcommittees of the Appropriations Committees in both houses of Congress. In 1997, for example, the aggregate figure for all U.S. government intelligence and intelligence-related activities—of which the CIA is only one part—was made public for the first time and amounted to $26.6 billion. And as the CIA’s remarkable history shows, at times that budget has been applied to some distinctly unusual topics—as we shall now see.1

In a situation that mirrors the allegations of conspiracy and cover-up regarding the assassination of President John F. Kennedy on November 22, 1963, a whole host of claims, counterclaims, and assertions regarding the Ararat Anomaly have surfaced both privately and publicly. Many of these maintain that the CIA and a number of other official bodies have collated a wealth of data and imagery on the Anomaly that are exempt from public disclosure.

Sources tell of Indiana Jones–style, U.S. government–funded expeditions to Turkey to try to locate the Ark’s remains. Others maintain that remnants of the Anomaly have been found and spirited away to classified military and governmental installations and institutions in the USA. And there is talk of intimidation by Men-in-Black-type characters warning those with knowledge of the Anomaly to remain silent. But can such claims be validated? Is the Anomaly really the Ark of Noah? Or is it simply a natural structure? And if so, should we relegate the entire story to the worlds of fiction, rumor, and misperception?

The best place to begin our investigation is, obviously, the Bible. “God said unto Noah…Make thee an ark of gopher wood…And this is the fashion which thou shalt make it of: The length of the ark shall be three hundred cubits, the breadth of it fifty cubits, and the height of it thirty cubits.” A cubit is approximately twenty inches in length—which would make the Ark five hundred feet long, eighty-three feet wide, and fifty feet high.

Moreover, it is alleged that the Ark was strong enough to with-stand the catastrophic worldwide flood that supposedly encompassed the globe and lasted for forty turbulent days. So the story goes, when the flood waters began to recede, the Ark settled on its final resting place: the permanently snowcapped Mt. Ararat.

Needless to say, if the U.S. intelligence community has located the remains (or the suspected remains) of such an impressive vessel, it would undoubtedly be the archaeological find of the century. But would such a discovery be made public? Certainly there is no shortage of accounts positing a link between the Ararat Anomaly, Noah’s Ark, and the secret world of officialdom.

In 1952, William Todd, a photographer’s mate chief with the U.S. Navy, viewed an object “of huge size” that appeared to be a “rectangular, slate-colored boat,” while flying near the summit of Mt. Ararat.2 And in 1955, a French explorer, Fernand Navarra, located a five-foot-long piece of ancient, carved wood high on Mt. Ararat, just several hundred meters from the site shown in the historic photographs taken in 1949.3

According to Gregor Schwinghammer, formerly of the U.S. Air Force’s 428th Tactical Flight Squadron based in Adana, Turkey, he saw the Anomaly as he was flying near the mountain in an F-100 aircraft in the late 1950s. Moreover, he said that it looked like “an enormous boxcar” lying in a gully high up on Mount Ararat and added that photographs had been taken of the structure by U-2 spy-plane pilots. He further revealed that the object seemed to be banked—something that indicated it had become caught there as it slid down the mountainside. “I think most of the time it is covered with ice and snow and that we just saw it at a time when part of it was protruding from the snow,” Schwinghammer told author Charles Berlitz. “I know that I saw a rectangular structure that looked like a ship. It was at a period in time or history and we were there at that time. Other pilots in the squadron remember having taken part in flights over Ararat or having heard that other pilots had seen a shiplike object on the mountain.”4

Similarly, the noted authority on the Ark, Robin Simmons, has secured the testimony of a man who worked at the Smithsonian in the fall of 1968. After being there for approximately a month, the man said that “several crates were delivered to our section which seemed to cause quite a bit of interest among the directors.”

The crates were duly opened, and contained within them were “several artifacts like old wood and some old-style tools.” There were photographs too, reportedly taken from a balloon, that showed “a shiplike object down in some ice. So I took a look at them and talked some, and I was told it was Noah’s Ark.”

The man said this caused a lot of excitement among the staff, but after about five days, things began to change. “They didn’t talk anymore,” he said. “They started taking the stuff out. The questions we’d ask, they just kind of ignore us, and finally they pretty well came out and told everybody to just keep their mouth shut.”

After portions of his story were published in the book Has Anyone Really Seen Noah’s Ark? (written by the author Violet Cummings), the man said he was visited at work by two men who identified themselves as FBI agents. “They told me my statements were making waves at the Smithsonian. And that I had been somewhere where I shouldn’t have and seen something that didn’t concern me. They didn’t threaten me, exactly.”

This prompted the man to phone his boss at the Smithsonian. “I asked him some questions about all that stuff from Ararat and the Ark. He said, ‘You know, I really can’t talk about it,’ and kind of laughed.”5 And the accounts do not end there.

In September 1973 on the eve of the Yom Kippur War, a CIA reconnaissance satellite allegedly obtained imagery of a “boatlike” object on Mt. Ararat. “The pictures are real clear,” according to Dino Brugioni, a retired CIA photographic specialist directed to study the high-resolution imagery, and quoted in the Washington Times. “You see the whole summit and lots of rock formations. We measured things, but none of them fell within the dimensions given in the Bible. If you didn’t have the biblical dimensions in cubits, you could pick up those pictures and say they look like a ship. But when you measure it, it doesn’t come out right. At no time did we say we saw an ark.”6

Echoing these words, an anonymous, former high-ranking intelligence official who had seen the 1973 satellite images informed the Washington Times that one photograph showed close-ups of what seemed to be three large, curved wooden beams. While there was disagreement on the part of CIA analysts over what the photograph showed exactly, he was careful to state, “I have felt from the beginning the thing ought to be looked at more carefully. It’s worth looking into.”7

The late George A. Carver Jr., the former deputy for national intelligence in the CIA during the 1970s, made a similar statement in 1993: “Well, I don’t recall the CIA working on Noah’s Ark, but I do remember that at the time there were some pictures taken, and there were clear indications that there was something up on Mt. Ararat, which was rather strange.”8

Having reviewed a wealth of testimony both on and off the record, let us now turn our attention to what can be determined officially about the Ararat Anomaly and its potential relationship to the Ark of Noah.

 

In the story of the Ark, the Anomaly, the CIA, and the U.S. intelligence community, one name stands out more than any other: that of Professor Porcher Taylor III, of the University of Richmond. He has diligently pursued this story for a decade and originally heard rumors pertaining to the Anomaly while a junior cadet at the U.S. Military Academy at West Point in 1973.

Having begun to seriously research the Ararat Anomaly in 1993, Taylor cultivated good contacts and links within U.S. intelligence. He struck gold on March 14, 1995, when the Defense Intelligence Agency made available to him a single sixteen-by-nine-inch copy of one of the black-and-white photographs taken of the Ararat Anomaly by the U.S. Air Force forty-six years previously. By October 1995, further images were released to Taylor by the DIA. But what, exactly, do they show?

According to Peter Hsu, a principal naval engineer, the “dense linear-shaped object” might be “man-made.” Similarly a former colleague of Carver’s informed Taylor in 1995 that he had both seen and evaluated photographs taken of the Ararat Anomaly for the CIA in 1959–60 and thought that in the photographic evidence secured by Taylor from the DIA the object was “too linear to be natural and that most of the structure appeared to be under ice.”9

Not everyone is in agreement, however, in particular the Defense Intelligence Agency:


The anomaly identified by Mr. Taylor on photographic enlargements…is located at approximately 39 42’ 10"N 044 16’ 30" at an elevation of approximately 14–15000’ and approximately 2.2 KM horizontal distance West of the summit. This position is map derived and should not be considered geodetically precise.

The “anomaly” is located along an unstable precipice near the edge of the permanent glacial ice cap atop Mt. Ararat. The instability of this feature is evidenced by the observation of an avalanche in progress just to the east of the “anomaly” on frame 2. The accumulated ice and snow along this precipice obviously fall down the side of the mountain at frequent intervals, often leaving long linear facades. It appears that the “anomaly” is one of these linear facades in the glacial ice underlying more recent accumulated ice and snow. Further, the tone and texture of the “anomaly” and avalanche debris immediately below are consistent with the shadowed snow, ice, and debris prevalent along the face of the precipice.



And the controversy continues. On several occasions in late 1999 and mid-2000, photographs of the Anomaly were taken by the private satellite of a Colorado-based company: Space Imaging. A seven-person team examined the images and again there was a divergence of opinion. Some favored the theory that the Anomaly was artificial and others leaned toward accepting that it was a natural rock formation. Intriguingly, however, one of the team members concluded that the Anomaly had “shifted” slightly and was “broken” in several places—something that suggests it is not simply a formation of rock.10

But let us now turn our attention to the crux of the matter: the CIA’s knowledge of the Ararat Anomaly. In February 2002, the CIA released to us via the terms of the Freedom of Information Act a package of material concerning the Anomaly, Mt. Ararat, and Noah’s Ark. The file is illuminating in what it tells us, what it doesn’t tell us, and what it implies.

Certainly one of the most intriguing entries in the file is a four-page document titled “Noah’s Ark, 1974–1982,” which provides a time-line for significant events in the Agency’s involvement in the controversy.

According to the records, on May 13, 1974, the then director of central intelligence, William Colby, wrote a letter to Sayre Stevens, of the Agency’s Directorate of Science and Technology, asking if the CIA had any evidence in its possession of the existence of Noah’s Ark on Mt. Ararat.

Mr. Colby said that Lieutenant Colonel Walter Brown of the US Air Force Academy had asked “whether it would be appropriate or possible to exploit satellite photography to examine the glacier systems there to see whether any evidence of the Ark could be found.” On 21 May, the Center responded that no evidence of the Ark could be discerned on U-2 photography acquired on 10 September 1957 or on any satellite imagery available at the Center.


While the response to the inquiry from Lieutenant Colonel Walter Brown provided nothing of substance, it is perhaps of significance, however, that the reference to U-2 photography of the region taken in 1957 does correlate somewhat with the account of Gregor Schwinghammer, who asserted, long before this CIA document surfaced, that the U-2 spy plane had been utilized to photograph both Mt. Ararat and the Anomaly.

On 6 August 1974, Congressman Bob Wilson asked the Agency whether any aerial photos of Mt. Ararat could be released to a friend of his, Dr. John Morris, son of Dr. Henry Morris, the head of the Institution of Creation Research of San Diego, California. Mr. Hicks stated in a letter to the Agency legislative liaison staff that several U-2 photos dated 1957 were available but were still classified “Confidential.” The younger Dr. Morris wrote to the Agency later requesting the photos. His request was denied by Angus Theurmer, the Agency’s press spokesman, who stated, “We have looked into this matter in some detail and we regret that we are unable to provide any information.”


Further rumors were apparently leaking outside the corridors of power to the effect that photographs of the Ark had been obtained for the CIA on U-2 spying missions. And still the requests for the declassification of evidence that many believed the CIA to be in possession of continued.


In September/October 1974, Admiral Showers of the Intelligence Community Staff, in response to a query from Lieutenant Commander Lonnie McClung, asked about the availability of intelligence information concerning the location of Noah’s Ark. He was told that a search had been made of aerial photography with negative results.

On 30 January 1975, Dr. John Morris again wrote Congressman Bob Wilson noting that aerial photos “were taken in August 1974, as a result of my request. They were not to be classified, but have been classified since and are not available.” Congressman Wilson again contacted the Agency with the request. On 27 February 1975, Mr. Hicks again denied the request. On 11 March 1975, Dr. Morris was notified that the photography of Mt. Ararat was classified and, therefore, could not be provided. An additional request made through Dr. Charles Willis of Fresno, California, to Mr. Arthur C. Lundahl, retired Director NPIC [Note from the authors: National Photographic Interpretation Center] on 5 March 1975 was also denied on 31 March 1975.



This particular reference to classified aerial photographs taken of Mt. Ararat in 1974 indicates that some officials were working hard to resolve the controversy. And that controversy continued unabated.

On 3 April 1975, NPIC Section Chief [deleted] sent a memo to the Chief, IEG, detailing the efforts of Messrs. [deleted] and [deleted] who had searched unsuccessfully all available U-2 and satellite imagery for possible evidence of Noah’s Ark. This search had been prompted by the visit to the Center, on 14 March 1975, of Captain Howard Schue of the IC Staff with a ground photo “showing a long range view of the purported Ark.” The [deleted] Division of NPIC was tasked to determine if the Ark’s features in the photo had been altered; tests failed to identify any manipulation. Attempts to compare the ground photo with satellite imagery for identification and location purposes also proved negative.


Obviously the CIA was as much in the dark as everyone else about the nature of what was, or was not, situated on Mt. Ararat, but the reference to the NPIC being “tasked” to determine the nature of the Schue photograph, however, demonstrates that additional files or memoranda on this matter have been generated. To date, they have failed to surface into the public domain.

We return to the CIA document.

From 27 March to 5 April 1975, a French archeological explorer, Fernand Navarra, was at Iverson Mall in Washington, D.C. publicizing his book Noah’s Ark: I Touched It. As part of the sales pitch for the book, there was a display which included a supposed wood fragment of the Ark. Several NPIC analysts concerned with the Ark problem visited the display but found nothing that would help their search effort.


That the CIA’s NPIC would be sufficiently involved in analyzing Ark-related data to stealthily check out a public display promoting a book on the subject suggests strongly that the possible existence of something truly extraordinary on Mt. Ararat was being seriously addressed. It may also be notable that, as we revealed earlier, the location where Navarra found his potentially historic piece of wood was only meters from where then still classified Air Force imagery of the Anomaly was taken in 1949.

Then on 10 April 1975 another development in the affair surfaced.


Colonel Paul Tanota and Captain Howard Schue, of the IC Staff visited NPIC to discuss Mt. Ararat and to see the August 1974 aerial photography of the mountain. At the request of Captain Schue, a print of Mt. Ararat showing the 13,000 and 14,000 foot elevations was provided.

On 5 July 1975 a book entitled The Ark of Ararat by Thomas Nelson was released. Mr. Nelson maintained that the CIA had photos of Mt. Ararat and that they had been analyzed in the search for the Ark.

On 12 October 1975, Tom Croster from a group known as The Holy Ground Mission of Frankston, Texas showed a ground photo supposedly of the Ark taken during their 1974 expedition to Mt. Ararat. Sometime in 1977, Bill Chaney Speed of Search Foundation, Inc. requested the aerial photos of Mt. Ararat. His request was also denied.



The references to the Holy Ground Mission and to the Nelson book again demonstrate that the CIA was keeping a watchful eye on any and all developments. And the CIA continued to be dogged by the specter of the Ark.

Senator Barry Goldwater wrote DCI Turner on 1 September 1978, “You may think this is a screwball request and it may be, but I would like to know if you can do anything about it.” The letter went on to ask if satellite photography could be searched “to determine whether or not something in the way of an archeological find might be located near or on top of the Mount.” Goldwater explained that a letter he had received had come “from a man in whom I have great confidence, who certainly is no nut, who knows Turkey rather well but who feels that there is reason to believe the Ark may be resting at or near the top of the mount. I assure that I will keep this at any classification you want it kept and if you desire me to go to the devil, I know the way.” DCI Turner replied, “We have been requested on several occasions if we could determine whether there was remains of the Ark on Mt. Ararat. We have, as a result, carefully reviewed the photography of the area but have not found any evidence of the Ark.”


At the turn of the 1980s the controversy surrounding the CIA and the Ark of Noah continued.


On 27 May 1981, [deleted] of the Center received a telephone call from Air Force Tallent Control Officer, Major Ray Abel, requesting information on Noah’s Ark. Major Abel said he had received a request from General Lew Allen, Air Force Chief of Staff, who, in turn, was answering a requirement from Congressman Bill Archer of Texas.

Congressman Archer had indicated that some of his constituents from Houston, Texas were going on an expedition to Mt. Ararat and would like to have as much information as possible. [Deleted] told Major Abel that NPIC had conducted a study of Mt. Ararat in the 1970s and had found no evidence of the Ark.

In February 1982, former Astronaut James B. Irwin of the High Flight Foundation, a Christian group in Colorado Springs, Colorado, called former NPIC official Dino A. Brugioni, at his home and asked about the aerial photos of Mount Ararat. Irwin was informed that no evidence of the Ark had ever been seen on aerial photography.



Since 1982 the amount of documentation on the Ararat Anomaly that the CIA has declassified into the public domain is limited. Indeed, the next entry we see in the file dates from 1992 and is a letter from one Charles P. Aaron, described as chief pilot and director of operations for the Tsirah Corporation. He wrote to the CIA requesting Agency assistance in the corporation’s search for Noah’s vessel, a search that had been in progress for a number of years and that had the support of astronaut Jim Irwin and several U.S. senators.

It is noteworthy that Aaron informed the Agency that a number of qualified officials had informed him that the U.S. government possessed a restricted-access satellite surveillance system that was capable of looking through ice.

Aaron sensibly advised the CIA further that he was not interested in obtaining first-hand knowledge of what might very well have been classified surveillance technology, but simply wanted to know if the CIA could lend help to Tsirah’s quest. A June 2, 1992, memorandum titled “Noah’s Ark” and designated for the Agency’s Office of Imagery Analysis (OIA) reveals the response to the Tsirah request.

We reviewed a video—for assistance in locating Noah’s Ark on Mt. Ararat in northeastern Turkey. The request made by Charles Aaron of the Tsirah Corporation, was sent to the Director of Central Intelligence…. Mr. Aaron’s letter stated a belief that the Agency had the technical capability to look through hundreds of feet of ice and asked that we use this technology to aid his search for the Ark. To the best of OIA’s knowledge, there is no such existing technology.


The OIA added that, having looked at existing imagery of Mt. Ararat, they were unable to confirm the existence of the Ark or its proposed location and suggested that the Tsirah Corporation should be informed likewise. Again, we have a firm denial of anything positive having been determined from an analysis of imagery of the alleged final resting place of the Ark of Noah.

On January 21, 1993, however, a formerly secret CIA memorandum contained within the file makes a curious reference to “a request to declassify imagery of Noah’s Ark for a TV production” that was, to quote further, “turned down” by the CIA. It may be nothing more than a slip of the keyboard, but the specific reference to imagery of Noah’s Ark (rather than, for example, imagery of the Anomaly or imagery of an unidentified formation on Mt. Ararat) is something that we should bear in mind as potentially telling.

Of equal interest is a February 7, 1994, document from the CIA’s Office of the Deputy Director for Science and Technology to the director of central intelligence stating in part that they had “no efforts currently underway to conduct additional searches for Noah’s Ark in the Mt. Ararat region.” Of course, the reference to “additional searches” can only mean that at some point in its past, at least, the CIA had undertaken a quest to try to locate the Ark.

The final document of any significance contained within the declassified material is a February 1, 1994, memorandum from an unknown source within the office of the Director of the CIA to the Science and Technology office. The purpose was to obtain a status report to determine what the CIA had on file in the form of imagery on both Mt. Ararat and Noah’s Ark.


OIA and NPIC has no active project searching imagery of Mt. Ararat, Turkey, for evidence of Noah’s Ark…. At the directionof DCI [Robert] Gates, OIA in 1992 searched for the Ark on imagery routinely collected of the Mt. Ararat area between November 1990 and January 1992. That search revealed nothing conclusive; only two areas of apparent rock formations protruding through existing snow and ice.

We doubt that a thorough search of imagery of Mt. Ararat for evidence of the Ark would be conclusive. With its summit over 15,000 feet of elevation, Mt. Ararat is snow and ice covered virtually year round.



A few scant documents aside, there ends the CIA’s file. But are we any closer to understanding the nature and origin of the curious anomaly of Mt. Ararat? The answer has to be no. However, a curious trend runs throughout this entire story. On the one hand, the officially released files for the most part fail to indicate the presence of anything truly unusual on the mountain, while retired CIA and military personnel for the most part suggest otherwise. Is this simply coincidence or is there a missing piece to the Ararat Anomaly puzzle that has led to this curious situation? Is it possible that the Ark was located after the Anomaly was first photographed by the U.S. Air Force in the summer of 1949? And if so, is it feasible that remnants of the Ark have been retrieved—as Robin Simmons’s source suggests?

Perhaps the answers to those questions can be found buried deep within some impenetrable vault of U.S. intelligence. Equally, the harsh, snowcapped peaks of Mt. Ararat may continue to hide their secrets from one and all. For now, at least (and until such time as the Turkish government allows it to be examined in detail and at close quarters), the Ararat Anomaly will continue to remain precisely that: an anomaly.









Three

Ashes to Ashes




Of the many and varied ways to meet that grimmest of reapers, few can be more horrific than being burned to death. To do so in a house fire or a car wreck would be bad enough, but to simply burst into flames for no apparent reason and at any given moment is positively horrifying. But such is the nature of spontaneous human combustion (SHC).

For centuries people have pondered this worrisome phenomenon and have advanced numerous theories to explain precisely why someone might, literally, go up in smoke, for no apparent cause. Possible explanations include having excessive amounts of body fat, being alcoholic, built-up static electricity, a lethal combination of chemicals in the stomach generated by a poor diet, even divine intervention.

One of the earliest references to spontaneous human combustion dates back to 1673, when Jonas Dupont of France published a collection of SHC reports and investigations in his book, De Incendiis Corporis Humani Spontaneis. He had been inspired by a Parisian case that almost led to a murder conviction for the unfortunate victim’s spouse. Similarly, on April 9, 1744, Grace Pett of Ip-swich, England, was found on the floor of her home burned like “a log of wood consumed by a fire, without apparent flame.”

[image: page44]

An extract from an untitled, official FBI file of 1951 on one of the strangest of all mysteries: spontaneous human combustion.

More than two hundred years later, on May 18, 1957, Anna Martin of West Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, died after being incinerated in temperatures that reached almost two thousand degrees. All that remained of Anna Martin were her shoes and a small part of her torso. And almost a decade later, the remains of Dr. J. Irving Bentley were discovered at his home in Coudersport, Pennsylvania. Another victim of SHC, he had apparently burned with such intensity as to create a three-foot-wide hole in the floor of his bathroom where he had fallen.

The most famous fictional account of death by SHC is surely that of the character Krook, in Charles Dickens’s celebrated novel of 1852, Bleak House. Dickens expanded on the theory postulated at the time that SHC was linked to alcoholism and based his character’s death on that of alleged real-life SHC victim Countess Cornelia de Bandi Cesenate. Interestingly, in the second edition of his book published in the following year, Dickens asserted that he had researched the subject of SHC thoroughly and had uncovered more than thirty such cases.

The real-life details of the countess’s death are not pretty. According to the August 1832 edition of The Saturday Magazine, “This lady, who was in the sixty-second year of her age, retired to bed in her usual health. Here she spent above three hours in conversation with her maid, and in saying her prayers; and having at last fallen asleep, the door of her chamber was shut. As her maid was not summoned at the usual hour, she went into the bedroom to wake her mistress; but receiving no answer, she opened the window, and saw her corpse on the floor, in the most dreadful condition. At the distance of four feet from the bed there was a heap of ashes. Her legs, with stockings on, remained untouched, and the head, half-burned, lay between them. Nearly all the rest of the body was reduced to ashes. The air in the room was charged with floating soot. A small oil lamp on the floor was covered with ashes, but had no oil in it; and in two candlesticks, which stood upright upon a table, the cotton wick of both the candles was left, and the tallow of both had disappeared. It has been generally supposed that an internal combustion had taken place; that the lady had risen from her bed to cool herself, and that, in her way to open the window, the combustion had overpowered her, and consumed her by a process in which no flame was produced.”

The most intriguing case of all, however, and one that provides the official answer to the mystery of SHC, occurred in St. Petersburg, Florida. At 9 P.M. on the evening of July 1, 1951, sixty-seven-year-old Mary Hardy Reeser was alone in her apartment. Indeed, the only people in the building that night were Reeser and her landlady. She took a sleeping pill, lay back in “an overstuffed chair,” and lit a cigarette. What happened next has been the subject of heated debate for years.

All that can be said for certain, however, is that at 8 A.M. the following day, her landlady, Patsy Carpenter, took a telegram to Reeser’s room but found the doorknob too hot to turn. She quickly shouted to two painters working nearby to lend assistance, which they duly did, and the door was forced open. A blast of hot air filled the building and the three were confronted with a shocking scene. Where Reeser had been sitting and relaxing the previous evening was a fire-destroyed chair, a pile of ashes, and a few remnants of teeth and bone. These looked suspiciously like the shrunken remains of a human skull. There was also an undamaged left ankle and foot—complete with shoe, no less, in pristine condition. Not only that, but the wall nearest the victim and the floor in the immediate vicinity were only slightly scorched, and newspapers on a nearby table had failed to ignite. There was no evidence in the room of any flammable material, and despite the intense temperatures, the room itself was unscathed.

Dr. Wilton Marion Krogman of the University of Pennsylvania was fascinated by the case and addressed a whole variety of theories and explanations in a published article titled “The Strange Case of the Cinder Lady.” “The local police,” wrote Krogman, “kept referring to it as ‘weird,’ ‘fantastic,’ ‘unbelievable,’ and even the conservative FBI ventured ‘unusual,’ ‘improbable.’ As for me, were I living in the Middle Ages I’d mutter something about ‘black magic’…”

Krogman did not come outright and support the SHC theory but admitted that “the case still haunts me.” He concluded with the words of the local chief of police, J. R. Reichert, who said, “The case is not closed and may never be to the satisfaction of all concerned.”

But were some people satisfied the case could be explained in rational terms without the need to invoke SHC? Indeed some were, at the FBI.

The roots of the Bureau can be traced back to July 1908 when Charles J. Bonaparte, attorney general under U.S. president Theodore Roosevelt, created a force of special agents within the Department of Justice (DOJ) that ultimately evolved into the FBI. With its headquarters in Washington, D.C., the FBI has offices in every U.S. state and employs thousands of people.
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